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BANK FRAUD

1. A conviction for bank fraud under 18 U.S.C. § 1344 (2) (2000) requires that the victim bank be—by virtue of defendant’s alleged fraud—exposed to civil liability.

United States v. Sprick, 233 F.3d 845 (5th Cir. Nov. 14,2000).

Defendant was a spendthrift who tried his hand at financial advising. During the course of his ill-fated career, he won over the trust of three elderly widows, each of whom entrusted in him substantial sums of money. It was understood that he would not use any

money given to him by the widows for his benefit. 
Rather than investing the widows’ money into legitimate concerns, defendant concocted an annuity contracts scheme, the proceeds of which he used to “support his lavish lifestyle.” By creating a smokescreen involving different mailing addresses and forged signatures, he defrauded the widows collectively out of over one million dollars. He helped perpetuate the scam by, at least one time, depositing money withdrawn from one widow’s annuity to cover a check to another widow, whose nephew had grown suspicious of defendant. Thus, he robbed Peter to pay Paul and hoped Paul would not come knocking. 
Alas, Paul and the federal government eventually did come knocking. An investigation uncovered, among other things, a confessional email defendant had attempted to send to a radio personality. Defendant was convicted in the district court of bank fraud, mail fraud, and money laundering. 
On appeal to the Fifth Circuit, defendant complains, inter alia, that his conviction under 18 U.S.C. § 1344 (2) for bank fraud was erroneous as a matter of law because the bank he was alleged to have defrauded “could not have been civilly liable to anyone as a result of his conduct.” This prerequisite to bank fraud conviction is employed by numerous circuits, including the fifth. Specifically, defendant contended that depositing the annuity money from one widow to cover a check to another did not subject the recipient bank to civil liability. The government responded that there was some evidence that the bank could have been civilly liable for defendant’s actions. The court disagreed. 
In reversing defendant’s conviction for bank fraud, the court, while reserving opinion on whether the bank actually might have been exposed to civil liability, found that the government had failed to provide any basis at trial for concluding that the bank might be subject to civil liability. In its holding, the court unequivocally reaffirmed the principle that § 1344 (2) requires that the “bank allegedly defrauded be exposedto civil liability as a result of the purportedly fraudulent acts.”

BRIBERY

2. The Fifth Circuit held that a privately employed corrections guard who worked at a federal corrections facility per his employer’s contract with the federal  government was a public official for purposes of the bribery statute, 18 U.S.C. § 201 (b) (2). United States v. Thomas, No. 99-21044, 2001 WL 62578 (5th Cir. Jan. 24, 2001).

Defendant was employed as a prison guard by a private company that contracted with the Immigration & Naturalization Service to house INS detainees pending their deportation. He was caught bringing cigarettes to detainees in exchange for money, and was

charged with and convicted of accepting a bribe in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 201 (b) (2). He complained on appeal to the Fifth Circuit that his conviction could not stand because he was not a “public official,” and was thus not within the ambit § 201 (b) (2), which

“proscribes a <public official’ [from] accepting anything of value in return for violating his official duty.” 
The court declared at that outset that it had yet to declare which private employees were “public officials” for purposes of the bribery statute. It then proceeded to examine how other circuits had defined the term. The D.C. Circuit ruled that a private

employee who performed a “quintessentially sovereign function” could be regarded as a public official. The Second Circuit found that a “contractual bond with the Federal government is sufficient to bring a defendant within the ambit of Section 201 (a) . . . .” The Fourth Circuit employed a multi-part test that considered, among other things, the degree to which the purported public official’s job resembled that of a similarly

situated federal employee. After wading through these different tests, the court flatly stated that defendant was a public official. While (regrettably) not announcing a single cogent test for who would be considered a public official, the court indicated that the following factors required that defendant be deemed a public official: 
1. Defendant performed the same duties and had the same responsibilities as a similarly situated federal corrections officer; 
2. Defendant, by virtue of his employer’s contract with the United States government, occupied a position of trust with official federal responsibilities; 
3. Defendant’s employer’s contract with the INS subjected defendant to federal regulations; 
4. Defendant’s employer’s internal rules and regulations were subject to INS approval; and 
5. Any employee who violated the employer’s internal rules and regulations could be fired by either the private employer or by INS. 
Nowhere in the opinion does the court state that the factors are either exhaustive or that each must be independently satisfied before one is found to be a public employee. Thus, while the factors may in fact represent a single test in the form of an amalgamation of other circuit’s precedents, the factors might be simply indicative of some of the arguments the court is amendable to when deciding whether a private employee will be considered a public official per the bribery statute.

FALSE CLAIMS & MATERIALITY INSTRUCTIONS

3. Failure to give materiality instruction in false claims case was probably error, albeit harmless.

United States v. Foster, 229 F.3d 1196 (5th Cir. Oct. 5, 2000).

Defendant was convicted under 18 U.S.C. § 287 for making false, fictitious, and fraudulent claims to the government regarding black taxes. On appeal to the Fifth Circuit, he complained that the district court erroneously failed to charge the jury that materiality is an essential element of § 287 offenses. 
Concerning false claims offenses, the Supreme Court stated in Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1 (1999) that “a false statement is material if it has <a natural tendency to influence or [is] capable of influencing, the decision of the decisionmaking body to which it was addressed.’” The Neder court also held that where materiality is an essential element of a federal offense, failure give the jury a materiality instruction should be reviewed under harmless-error analysis.
 In the instant case, the court stated in a footnote its preference that a materiality instruction be given infalse claims cases. However, the court decided that any hardship that enured to defendant because of the district court’s failure to give a materiality instruction was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, the court’s footnote yearning for a materiality instruction is dictum, albeit highly instructive dictum concerning how the court might hold in the rare future case where the lack of materiality instruction is harmful.

MONEY LAUNDERING, DRUG CONSPIRACY & SENTENCING GUIDELINES

4. When they are part of the same criminal transaction(s), convictions for drug trafficking and money laundering should be grouped for sentencing purposes.

United States v. Salter, No. 99-40245, 2001 WL 91618 (5th Cir. Feb. 2, 2001).

Defendant and two cohorts were involved in a drug conspiracy. They bought a house in Corpus Christi, Texas with drug proceeds, and then used the house to carry on the drug related activities. An investigation and subsequent arrest resulted in defendant pleading

guilty to conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute and money laundering. The Pre-Sentence Investigation Report did not group the two offenses. Rather, it treated the drug conspiracy count as an independent basis for punishment as well as a “specific offense

characteristic” under U.S.S.G. § 3D1.2(c), which resulted in the addition of three sentencing points to the money laundering offense. Defendant objected at trial and again on appeal to the Fifth Circuit that failure to group the two counts caused the drug conspiracy to be double-counted. 
The court began its analysis by recalling its precedent that Section 3D1.2 divides offenses into three categories regarding grouping: “(1) those to which the section specifically applies; (2) those to which the section specifically does not apply; and (3) those for which grouping may be appropriate on a case-by-case basis.” The court then noted that the “grouping of money laundering counts with drug trafficking counts falls into the third category.” The court then examined its precedent regarding the grouping of drug offenses and money laundering for sentencing purposes. It recognized that while it had prohibited grouping the two under U.S.S.G. § 3D1.2(b) in United States v. Gallo, 927 F.2d 815 (5th Cir. 1991), a panel of the court had more recently decided in United States v. Rice, 185 F.3d 326 (5th Cir. 1999) that the two  offenses were to be grouped under subsection (c), the purpose of which was to prevent this type of double-counting. 
The court then declared that as the facts of the case at bar were identical to those encountered by the Rice court, Rice controlled and the district court erred in not grouping the two offenses. Because of the frequency with which money laundering is charged alongside drug trafficking, this case is of obvious importance to the criminal practitioner and, more importantly, his client.

FORGERY & SENTENCING

5. Possession of multiple forged money orders represents a single offense for  purposes of 18

U.S.C. § 494.

United States v. Prestenbach, 230 F.3d 80 (5th Cir. Oct. 16, 2000).

Defendant was already in prison for an unrelated matter when a routine inspection of his personal effects uncovered a lotion bottle containing six Postal Service Money orders inside. Four of the money orders had been altered. He was convicted of four counts of

violating 18 U.S.C. § 494. The district court sentenced him to five years for each count, sentences to run consecutively. He complained on appeal to the Fifth Circuit that his sentence punished him four times for the same offense. 
The court noted at the outset that it must determine what “unit of punishment” Congress created in 18 U.S.C. § 494; it was either the act of possessing money orders, or the act of possessing a single money order. If the former, his sentence would have to be corrected; if the latter, the district court was justified in sentencing him independently for each money order possessed. The court to date had not been confronted with this precise question. 
In its attempt to divine the legislative intent behind Section 494, the court lamented that the statutory language was ambiguous. The relevant statutory language concerned “any such . . . writing.” While the government argued that “any” meant that each writing was a “unit of prosecution,” thereby justifying defendant’s four consecutive sentences, the court disagreed. 
Relying on the principle that the actus reus (guilty act) is the unit of prosecution for a crime, the court reaffirmed a rule established by its own precedent: “Whether a transaction results in the commission of one or more offenses is determined by whether separate and distinct acts made punishable by law have been committed.” In determining what the defendant’s actus reus was in the instant case, the court analogized the situation at hand to cases in which the possession of multiple firearms or multiple pieces of stolen mail was deemed the commission of one guilty act, possession, resulting in one chargeable offense. In light of those cases, and with regard to the rule of lenity because of the admittedly ambiguous statute, the court determined that possession of the four money orders was a single offense, and that defendant’s sentence must be corrected.
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ENTRAPMENT

6. The Fifth Circuit articulated a non-exhaustive list of factors that are relevant in determining whether a defendant claiming entrapment was predisposed to commit the underlying crime.

United States v. Reyes, No. 99-20188, 2001 WL 55600 (5th Cir. Jan. 23, 2001).

In lengthy opinion befitting the highly publicized, three month underlying trial, the Fifth Circuit reviewed the convictions of former Houston city councilman Ben Reyes and cohort Betti Maldonado. Following an intricate federal sting operation, Reyes and Maldonado were convicted of bribery and conspiracy to commit bribery, and Reyes was also convicted of mail fraud. At trial, the two defendant unsuccessfully raised the

issue of entrapment. On appeal to the Fifth Circuit, they resurrected it. 
Defendants’ entrapment argument centered on their contention that neither was predisposed to commit the crimes the government enticed them to engage in. In laying down a non-exhaustive list that resembles a bar review on the issue of predisposition, the court found

the following factors were relevant in determining predisposition: 
1. “[D]efendant’s ready and willing participation in government-solicited criminal activity, standing alone, is sufficient to prove predisposition;” 
2. defendant’s desire for profit; 
3. defendant’s knowledge or experience with the criminal activity under investigation;

4. the character of the defendant, including past criminal history; 
5. whether the government first suggested criminal activity; and 
6. the nature of the inducement offered by the government. 
Finding that both Reyes and Maldonado were both sufficiently predisposed to commit the charged criminal acts, the court overruled all points of error based on entrapment. All the other points of error, which were based largely on insufficiency of the evidence, were overruled as well. Pa
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BRADY & DISCOVERY VIOLATIONS

7. The Fifth Circuit recognized the government’s good faith mistake as a defense to sanctions arising out of Brady violations.

United States v. Garret, No. 99-10531, 2000 WL 1883771 (5th Cir. Dec. 29, 2000).

Defendants, most of whom were dairy farmers and milk transporters, allegedly conspired to add water to milk trucks along delivery routes, thereby increasing the weight and value of the shipments. Defendants were charged with mail fraud and various counts of conspiracy. During its investigation, the government sent several “target letters” to people who were not expected to testify at trial, but who the government suspected of involvement in the conspiracy. The letters encouraged those people to come forward,

admit their involvement, and “get the benefit of cooperation at sentencing.” Additionally, the government interviewed several defendants prior to trial and took notes regarding the substance of those interviews. During the interviews, some defendants proclaimed their innocence, thereby advancing a position inconsistent with their pleas. 
The district court ordered the government, per Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), to produce before trial any target letters as well as anything else that might be deemed impeachment material. The government, in various turns, failed to produce the subject materials, delayed until the eve of trial, and finally only partially complied with the district court’s discovery orders. Defense counsel moved for discovery sanctions, and the district court ultimately struck 25 of the government’s witnesses just before trial, the effect of which, according to the government, was to dismiss the charges against certain defendants. On interlocutory appeal to the Fifth Circuit, the government complained that the district court “abused its discretion by imposing a sanction more severe than was necessary to effect compliance with discovery orders . . . .” 
The court reviewed the district court’s imposition of discovery sanctions under the three relevant factors announced in United States v. Katz, 178 F.3d 368 (5th Cir. 1999). First, the court considered the reasons the disclosure was not made. The court appeared to break new ground here when it declared that “mistake made in good faith” by the government was a legitimate reason for non-disclosure. 
The court then turned to the second factor: the amount of prejudice to the opposing party. Finding that the newly discovered evidence was “cumulative,” the court declared that no prejudice enured to defendants. Finally, the court examined the third factor, “the feasibility of curing such prejudice with a continuance at trial,” and found that the district court’s exclusion of the 25 witnesses was far too harsh a sanction given the availability of lesser but equally effective sanctions.
